RECEIVED

01-28-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP002592-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES L. CHEW,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Sheboygan County Circuit Court, The Honorable Terence T. Bourke Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-7125 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Two men unknown to Mr. Chew entered his apartment when he was having a verbal argument with his ex-girlfriend, chased him to his bedroom and physically attacked him, breaking his nose and three ribs. While being beaten, Mr. Chew reached for a gun and shot twice, hitting both men in the leg, and then followed the men three steps past the threshold of his apartment door and shot four more times, hitting no one. Did the court err when it denied Mr. Chew's request for a jury instruction based on the new law known as the "castle doctrine"?

The circuit court distinguished apartments from single family homes and concluded the castle doctrine did not apply because Mr. Chew was in public when he stepped outside his apartment door.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Chew would welcome oral argument if the court felt it would be beneficial but is not requesting it. This case involves interpretation of a new law therefore publication may be warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Sheboygan County charged Charles L. Chew with one count of second degree recklessly endangering safety with the use of a dangerous weapon. (1). The following facts are from Mr. Chew's jury trial.

Trial

For a year, Mr. Chew lived with Cheryl McCranie and her son. (54:115-16). Although Mr. Chew never signed a lease, in August 2012, he moved with Ms. McCranie into an apartment on Rangeline Road in Sheboygan Falls. (54:116). Ms. McCranie claimed she was never in a relationship with Mr. Chew even though they were living together and shared a bedroom. (54:131). Mr. Chew described their relationship as "friends with benefits." (55:58).

Mr. Chew and Ms. McCranie eventually decided to end their relationship. (55:59). That process involved trying to figure out how they would live at separate locations. (55:59). Around October 27 or 28, 2012, Ms. McCranie went to stay with her parents. (54:116). Mr. Chew continued to live at the apartment on Rangeline Road. Less than a week later, on November 1, Ms. McCranie's new boyfriend Andrew Lee moved in with her at her parent's house. (54:132).

A few days later on November 5, 2012, at about five or six in the morning, Ms. McCranie went to the apartment on Rangeline Road, with her new boyfriend and his friend Andreaius Lucas. (54:117). Both men were strangers to Mr. Chew. (55:64). Ms. McCranie claimed she went to apartment to get clothes for her and her son. (54:116, 118). Ms. McCranie also claimed she brought the two men because she was afraid of Mr. Chew but then went into the apartment by herself and left them in the car. (54:119). She sent Mr. Chew a text message telling him she was coming over but never mentioned anything about Mr. Lee or Mr. Lucas. (54:134).

While Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas were waiting in the car, they called Ms. McCranie to see if she was alright. (54:120). She told them she was fine. (54:120). They told her they would get out of the car to check and Ms. McCranie should nod if she was alright. (54:120). They got out of the car, went into the hallway and Ms. McCranie nodded indicating she was fine. (54:120).

Mr. Chew testified that when Ms. McCranie came over they talked for a couple of minutes before the phone started ringing. (55:61). She picked it up the first time and asked the guy to call back because they were having a serious conversation, which got a little heated. (55:62). They were discussing the living arrangements. (55:79). Mr. Lucas testified that before the two men entered the apartment he heard a "back and forth" argument between Ms. McCranie and Mr. Chew. (54:181). Even though he alleged the fight got louder and he heard Ms. McCranie say let go of me, Mr. Lucas also testified there "wasn't much hostility" and he could hear Ms. McCranie arguing. (54:159, 175, 181).

Everyone testified consistently that Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas eventually entered the apartment, chased Mr. Chew to his bedroom and physically attacked him. They broke Mr. Chew's nose, three ribs, and gave him other bumps and bruises. (55:75). The state charged both Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas with substantial battery, which they plead down to disorderly conduct, for attacking Mr. Chew. (54:152-53, 174).

The testimony about what happened right before Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas forced their way into the apartment differs. Ms. McCranie alleged when she went to leave Mr. Chew slammed the door and locked it. (54:121). She then alleged that when she tried to unlock the door he grabbed her arm and tried to drag her into the back room. (54:121). Although she claimed she told her two male companions that they had permission to come in if she needed help, Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas both testified there was never any conversation about going into the apartment. (54:121, 157, 179). "She never asked [them] to come in." (54:157).

Mr. Lee testified that he could see Ms. McCranie and Mr. Chew through a window but admitted he could not see clearly into the apartment. (54:144, 158). Still, Mr. Lee alleged he saw Ms. McCranie try to leave and Mr. Chew pushed the door closed with force. (54:144). Conversely, Mr. Lucas testified he could not see what was going on in the apartment. (54:180).

According to Mr. Lee, he just reacted and went into the apartment. (54:144). He claimed Mr. Chew had Ms. McCranie by the arm when he entered the apartment. (54:145).

On the other hand, Mr. Lucas testified that Mr. Lee called Ms. McCranie and tried to get her to come out but it did not happen. (54:167). Then he called again and asked her to unlock the door. (54:168). The door unlocked but then the door slammed shut. (54:168). However, he testified it was unlocked again and that was when they went in. (54:168).

Mr. Chew explained that Ms. McCranie walked over and unlocked the door. (55:62). When she did it Mr. Chew looked at her inquisitively and went over and locked the door again because he is used to locking doors for safety purposes. (55:62-63). Ms. McCranie then got another phone call and she walked over and unlocked the door again. (55:63). Mr. Chew thought that was strange. He began to lock it again but two men pushed in the door. (55:63). They "shoved it open." (55:63). Mr. Chew tried to push the door closed when he felt it being forced open but he could not do it. (55:63). Mr. Chew backed away from the door and two men came into the apartment. (55:63). Mr. Chew testified that he never tried to stop Ms. McCranie from leaving the apartment. (55:78).

Mr. Chew was terrified because he did not know the men forcing their way into his apartment and did not know what was going to happen. (55:64). The two intruders came in running and swinging. (55:64). Mr. Chew remembers being hit in the forehead which made him move quickly away from the door. (55:64-65).

After Mr. Chew was hit, he ran into the bedroom. (55:65-66). While he was running, Mr. Chew had to try to block these men from hitting him. (55:65). Mr. Chew went into the back bedroom because he had golf clubs he thought he could use to protect himself. (55:67). However, as Mr. Chew got to the bedroom he tripped and fell and one of the men got on top of him and began hitting Mr. Chew in the face while the other man hit and kicked Mr. Chew. (55:66).

When Mr. Chew was on the ground being beaten and punched by the two strangers he was thinking "I hope they don't kill me. I don't want to die like this." (55:67-68).

Mr. Lee and Mr. Lucas confirmed Mr. Chew's description of the physical attack. They admitted when they entered the apartment Mr. Chew ran and they immediately chased after him. (54:145-46). Mr. Lee hit Mr. Chew first and then kept hitting him. (54:160). Mr. Lucas was also throwing

punches at Mr. Chew. (54:182). Mr. Chew tried to punch back but he was not able to. (54:159).

In the midst of his beating, Mr. Chew felt a gun on one of the men's waist. (55:68). He was able to grab it and fire. (55:68). He felt he needed to do something to get them off of him. (55:68). Both men denied ever having a gun. (54:142-43, 173). Mr. Chew hit each man in the leg when he fired the gun twice to get the intruders off of him. (54:150, 170; 55:69). The men then went towards the living room and Mr. Chew immediately followed them. (55:69). In the doorway of his building Mr. Chew fired more shots because he did not know whether the intruders were going to get another weapon from around the corner or if they were going to get more people. (55:70). He wanted to scare them off so they would leave him alone. (55:70-71). After he shot a few times in the doorway, Mr. Chew then started looking for his phone so he could call 911. (55:72).

According to Dineah Gollihue, who lives in Mr. Chew's apartment building, she heard loud footsteps and banging on the wall before she heard pops. (54:186-87, 191). She grabbed her phone and went into the hallway, where she saw Mr. Chew. (54:186-87).

Mr. Chew was disoriented and had blood on his face. (54:187). He repeatedly asked Ms. Gollihue to call the police. (54:187). He was standing between the front entrance door and his apartment door. (54:187). At that time, Ms. McCranie came back and tried to go into the apartment. (54:194). Ms. Gollihue told her she should leave and she did. (54:194).

Another neighbor, Justin Davis, testified he heard noises and screams so he went into the hallway. (54:198). He saw Mr. Chew with a gun. (54:198). He heard three to six shots, which were in rapid succession. (54:199, 203). Mr. Chew was standing "very close" to his apartment door, about three steps away. (54:203). The outside door is just next to Mr. Chew's apartment door. (54:203). The police arrived shortly thereafter. (54:202).

Castle Doctrine

Prior to trial, defense counsel requested a special jury instruction pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1m)(ar), which he described as the "castle doctrine." (17). Defense counsel attached a proposed instruction to its motion. (17:3-4; App. 116-17). The proposed instruction explained there is a presumption that Mr. Chew acted reasonably in using force if "Andrew Lee and Andreaius Lucas were in the defendant's dwelling after unlawfully and forcibly entering it, the defendant was present in the dwelling and the defendant knew or reasonably believed that Andrew Lee and Andreaius Lucas had unlawfully and forcibly entered the dwelling." (17:3; App. 116). The instruction defined "dwelling" and "forcibly." (Id.)

At a pretrial hearing, the court concluded before the defense could reference the castle doctrine there would have to be more information provided. (53:33). The court also stated it saw the questions regarding "unlawful and forcible entry" as a legal issue. (53:34). At that point, the court was not convinced the entry was unlawful. (53:34). The court focused on facts alleged at the preliminary hearing and in the complaint to suggest Ms. McCranie, who was on the lease, consented to the two men entering the home. (53:34-36).

After the state closed its case, defense counsel requested a dismissal based on "the so-called castle doctrine." (55:51). The court concluded it was a jury instruction issue. (55:51).

Defense counsel requested the castle doctrine instruction again at the close of evidence. (55:113). The court changed its mind about the reasons it gave at the previous hearing for denying the request (that the entry was lawful) (55:121), but nonetheless found the castle doctrine did not apply for a different reason. (55:121).

The court distinguished an apartment building, which is where Mr. Chew lived, from a single family home. (55:121-22). It concluded that when the statute referenced "driveways, sidewalks, swimming pools, terraces, patios, fences, porches, garages, and basements, I interpret that to mean parts of a single family unit. If I own a home and there's somebody on my porch that I don't want to be there, I've got the absolute right to tell them to get out." (55:122).

The court went on to explain it was looking at "control." (55:122). According to the court, it was important that the doorway to Mr. Chew's apartment building, which was steps away from his apartment door, was open to the public. (55:122). "Once he crosses the threshold he's not defending his home anymore." (55:122). Therefore, the court concluded the castle doctrine did not apply in Mr. Chew's case. (55:123).

The jury found Mr. Chew guilty and the court sentenced him to two years, six months of initial confinement and five years extended supervision. (56:18). Mr. Chew now appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court Erred When It Concluded the Castle Doctrine Did Not Apply in Mr. Chew's Case and the Error Was Not Harmless, Therefore Mr. Chew Is Entitled to a New Trial.
 - A. Introduction.

Two men, unknown to Mr. Chew, physically attacked him in his own home. These men barged into the apartment, chased Mr. Chew to the bedroom and immediately began beating him, breaking his nose and three ribs. The men claimed they forced their way into Mr. Chew's apartment to protect Ms. McCranie even though she did not need protection and their attack went far beyond any alleged protection. When the two intruders had Mr. Chew pinned on the ground beating him, he was able to grab a gun. He shot twice. In a beaten, bloody, and disoriented state Mr. Chew followed the intruders just past the threshold of his apartment door and shot a few more times. When he fired the last shots he did not know who the men were, where they were going, or who or what they would bring back with them. He wanted to protect himself. Mr. Chew then dropped the gun and immediately asked his neighbor to call the police. (54:187).

The legislature recently enacted a new law meant to protect people, like Mr. Chew, who were defending themselves in their homes. This new law is often referred to as the "castle doctrine." It created a "presumption of immunity from criminal actions" when a person uses force against an individual who is in the process of, or already unlawfully and forcibly entered the actor's dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business. Legislative Council Act Memo, 2011 Wisconsin Act 94 (Dec. 13, 2011); App. 118-20.¹ It also prohibits the court from considering whether the actor had an opportunity to flee or retreat. In other words, it better protects people who are defending themselves and their families from intruders in their homes, vehicles, and businesses.

As will be discussed herein, the castle doctrine should have been applied in Mr. Chew's case. Meaning, the jury should have been instructed that if it concluded certain predicate facts existed (i.e. unlawful and forcible entry) then it must presume Mr. Chew reasonably believed force was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm. It should have also been instructed it could not consider whether Mr. Chew had the opportunity to flee. The court erred when it denied Mr. Chew's request for a castle doctrine instruction, the error was not harmless, and therefore he is entitled to a new trial.

B. Statutory interpretation and standard of review.

This case requires interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1m)(ar), the castle doctrine. Before it applies, the defense must show by "some evidence" that (1) the person against whom force was used was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering the defendant's dwelling, motor vehicle, or business *or* was in the defendant's dwelling, motor vehicle, or business after unlawfully and forcefully entering, (2) the defendant was present in the dwelling, motor vehicle, or business, and (3) the defendant knew or reasonably believed the person unlawfully and

¹ Also available on the internet at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2011/related/lcactmemo/ab69.pdf.

forcibly entered or was in the process of doing so. Specifically, Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1m)(ar) states:

(ar) If an actor intentionally used force that was intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm, the court may not consider whether the actor had an opportunity to flee or retreat before he or she used force and shall presume that the actor reasonably believed that the force was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself if the actor makes such a claim under sub. (1) and either of the following applies:

1. The person against whom the force was used was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering the actor's dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business, the actor was present in the dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business, and the actor knew or reasonably believed that an unlawful and forcible entry was occurring.

2. The person against whom the force was used was in the actor's dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business after unlawfully and forcibly entering it, the actor was present in the dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business, and the actor knew or reasonably believed that the person had unlawfully and forcibly entered the dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business.

The new law does not apply when:

1. The actor was engaged in a criminal activity or was using his or her dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business to further a criminal activity at the time.

2. The person against whom the force was used was a public safety worker, as defined in s. 941.375(1)(b), who entered or attempted to enter the actor's dwelling, motor vehicle, or place of business in performance of his or her official duties...

Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1m)(b).

Statutory interpretation focuses primarily on the language of the statute. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44, 681 N.W.2d 110. If the meaning of the statute is plain, the inquiry ordinarily stops. *Id.* at ¶ 45.

However, the plain meaning of the statute is also discerned from context and purpose. *Id.* at \P 46. "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* If scope, context, and purpose are ascertainable from the text and structure of the statute itself then it is relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation. *Id.* at \P 48.

When the statute is ambiguous the court should consult extrinsic sources, such as legislative history. *Id.* at \P 50. When the statute is unambiguous, legislative history may be used only "to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." *Id.*

Statutory interpretation is a question of law, which requires de novo review. *State v. Head*, 2002 WI 99, ¶ 41, 255 Wis. 2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. This case also requires review of the circuit court's decision not to instruct the jury on the castle doctrine. Whether there are sufficient facts to allow the circuit court to give a certain jury instruction is a question of law, which is also subject to de novo review. *Id.* at ¶ 44.

C. There is "some evidence" that the castle doctrine should apply here.

The first issue is whether the castle doctrine should apply in Mr. Chew's case, thereby requiring the circuit court to instruct the jury accordingly. Defendants are entitled to relevant self-defense instructions when the trial evidence places self-defense in issue. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 4. This is true for perfect and imperfect self-defense and now it should also apply to the castle doctrine.

The "some evidence" standard should be used to determine whether the jury should be given a certain self-defense instruction. *State v. Peters*, 2002 WI App 243, ¶ 22, 258 Wis. 2d 148, 653 N.W.2d 300. This is a low threshold. *State v. Schmidt*, 2012 WI App 113, ¶ 12, 344 Wis. 2d 336, 824 N.W.2d 839.

The circuit court must determine whether a reasonable construction of the evidence, viewed most favorably to the defendant, will support the defendant's theory. *Id.* (*citing Head*, 258 Wis. 2d 194, ¶¶ 113, 115). In other words, if the evidence viewed most favorably to the defendant would allow a jury to conclude the state did not disprove the self-defense theory beyond a reasonable doubt, then the court should submit the relevant jury instruction. *Id.* Therefore, if the defense shows there is "some evidence" of the predicate facts needed for the castle doctrine to apply, the jury should be instructed on the castle doctrine.

1. Unlawful and forcible entry.

The court must first determine whether there is "some evidence" the two intruders in this case unlawfully and forcibly entered Mr. Chew's home. Unlawful is defined as "either tortious or expressly prohibited by criminal law or both." Wis. Stat. § 939.48(6).

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