## **RECEIVED** 04-01-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP2592-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES L. CHEW,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-2340 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) kasseljj@doj.state.wi.us

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

Section 939.48(1m)(ar) also addresses retreat, providing that if the predicate facts apply, "the court may not consider whether the actor had an opportunity to flee or retreat before he or she used force . . ." The standard instruction that addresses retreat is Wis JI-Criminal 810. It provides that while "there

is no duty to retreat" evidence relating to retreat may be considered in determining "whether the defendant reasonably believed the amount of force used was necessary to prevent or terminate the [unlawful] interference."

In a case where the new rule may apply, the court should determine whether the predicate facts exist. This would again require the court to resolve any factual disputes or conflicting evidence relating to the predicates for the new rule under its authority under § 901.04(1): "Preliminary questions concerning . . . the admissibility of evidence ... shall be determined by the judge . . ." If the court determines that the predicate facts exist, the court must not consider evidence relating to "whether the actor had an opportunity to flee or retreat" in making any decisions the court may be called upon to make regarding the privilege of selfdefense. Further, as part of the court's obligation to instruct the jury on the law, the court should, upon request, instruct the jury as follows:

There is no duty to retreat. You must not consider evidence relating to whether the defendant had an opportunity to flee or retreat in deciding whether the state has proved that the defendant did not act lawfully in self-defense.

#### Wis JI-Criminal 805A, p. 10 (R-Ap. 112).

The State agrees with the Committee's analysis. So, too, does Chew. See Chew's brief at 19 (citing Wis JI-Criminal 805A). The parties agree, therefore, that in a case in which the new statute applies, the jury should be instructed that it should not consider whether the defendant had an opportunity to flee or retreat when deciding

whether the State has proved that the defendant did not act lawfully in self-defense.

Presumption of reasonableness. The parties disagree, however, on the meaning and effect of the statutory language relating to the presumption of reasonableness. The statute provides that if the predicate facts set forth in sections 939.48(1m)(ar)1. or 939.48(1m)(ar)2. apply, "the court . . . shall presume that the actor reasonably believed that the force was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm." Wis. Stat. §939.48(1m)(ar).

Chew argues that this language creates a conclusive presumption and that "if the court finds 'some evidence' that the predicate facts exist, the court must instruct the jury regarding those facts and the accompanying presumption." Chew's brief at 22. He further argues if the jury had found that the predicate facts existed, not only must it "presume Mr. Chew reasonably believed force was necessary," but that presumption is not rebuttable. *Id.* at 21.

That interpretation is at odds with that of the Criminal Jury Instructions Committee, which concluded that the "shall presume" language does not change the substance of the self-defense privilege or alter the state's burden of persuasion; rather, the effect of that language is to provide another way for the defendant to meet the burden of production to warrant the court's giving a selfdefense instruction. See Wis JI-Criminal 805A, pp. 1, 6-7 (R-Ap. 103, 108-09). Because the Committee provided a thorough and thoughtful explanation of its interpretation of the statute, and because this court "generally view[s] the work of the Criminal Jury Instructions Committee as

persuasive," *State v. Schambow*, 176 Wis. 2d 286, 299, 500 N.W.2d 362 (Ct. App. 1993), the State will quote the Committee's analysis in full:

A. The new rule does not change the substance of the existing privilege of self-defense defined in § 939.48 or create an alternative to the existing privilege.

The new rule applies where "the actor makes... a claim under sub. (1)," referring to sub. (1) of § 939.48, which is the definition of the privilege of self-defense. Because the new rule plays a role only if "the actor makes... a claim under sub. (1)," the new rule is tied to the definition of the existing privilege and does not create an alternative to the existing privilege. The existing privilege under sub. (1), was not changed by Act 94. As applied to the use of deadly force, § 939.48(1) still requires that the actor "reasonably believe that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself."

B. The new rule does affect what a defendant must show to have the privilege submitted to the jury – that is, it provides another way for the defendant to meet the burden of production.

The new rule provides that if the actor makes a claim under sub. (1) and the predicate facts apply, "the court ... shall presume that the actor reasonably believed that the force was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself." The Committee considered two issues relating to this provision: 1) whether the reference to "the court" refers to the judge alone, or whether it also applies to the jury; and, 2) what the effect is of requiring the court to employ the presumption. The Committee concluded that the reference to "the court" refers to the trial judge, not the jury, and that the effect of the presumption is to assist the defendant in meeting the burden of production that is required to make the privilege of self-defense [as defined in sub. (1) of § 939.48] an issue in the case.

### • "The court" refers to the trial judge, not the jury.

In most situations, "the court" refers to the circuit court, that is, the judge, not the jury. See, for example, § 967.02(7), which provides [for the purposes of the Criminal Procedure Code]: "Court means the circuit court unless otherwise indicated." The Committee's conclusion that the reference is to the judge only and does not include the jury is consistent with the usual meaning given to "the court" and is faithful to the language of Act 94.

Act 94 had two parts: one relating to civil liability - § 895.62 - and one relating to the criminal law privilege of self-defense -The § 939.48(1m). civil and criminal provisions have roughly the same content, though they are not set up in exactly the same way. Section 895.62(3) is the civil of 939.48(1m)(ar) equivalent and specifically refers to the "finder of fact":

... the finder of fact may not consider whether the actor had an opportunity to flee or retreat before he or she used force and the actor is presumed to have reasonably believed that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself or to another person.

The legislature used the term "finder of fact" in the civil provision, which clearly includes both the judge in a case without a jury and the jury. In the criminal provision that is part of the same act, the legislature used the term "court." Because Act 94 did not use "finder of fact" in the criminal provision, the Committee concluded that the reference to "the court" means the judge and does not include the jury.

#### • "The court shall presume" does not affect the state's burden of persuasion.

The usual effect of a "presumption" is to shift the burden of persuasion from one party to another. This is routinely done in civil cases. In criminal cases, the burden of persuasion is always on the state to prove all facts necessary to constitute the crime and this burden cannot be shifted to the defendant by use of a "presumption." With respect to the privilege of self-defense in Wisconsin, the burden is on the state to prove the privilege does not apply once the defendant meets the burden of production by showing "some evidence" of each aspect of the privilege. The basic problem the Committee confronted is: how do you give defendants the benefit of a presumption as to a specific part of the case when a) they bear no burden of persuasion with respect to establishing that part of the case, and, b) they already enjoy a presumption of innocence as to all aspects of the case?

A defendant has a "presumption of innocence." This means the defendant must be found not guilty unless the state proves beyond a reasonable doubt both that all the facts necessary to constitute the crime have been established and that any defense raised by the evidence has been disproved. For example, as applied to a first degree intentional homicide case, the state must prove that the defendant caused death with intent to kill [the "elements" of the crime], and, if there is "some evidence" of the

privilege of self-defense, that the defendant did not act lawfully in self-defense.

Given the structure of the existing privilege of self-defense, and given that Act 94 did not change that privilege, the Committee concluded that creating "presumption" about a part of the definition of self-defense [namely, that the defendant reasonably believed deadly force necessary does not add anything to what the state is already required to prove. The state already has burden to disprove the privilege of self-defense [once the burden of production is met] and that burden cannot be increased by any presumption the court might employ. Thus, the Committee concluded, Act 94 does not create any new, alternative standard for the jury to consider and there is no reason to communicate the substance of the new rule to the jury.

• "The court ... shall presume" provides another way for the defendant to meet the burden of production.

The Committee concluded that the requirement that "the court shall presume" should be implemented by applying it to the defendant's obligation to meet the burden of production on the privilege of self-defense. The complete privilege of self-defense as defined in § 939.48(1) is to be submitted to the jury when there is "some evidence" of the privilege. In a case that does not involve the new rule, the defendant must point to evidence that he or she reasonably believed the following:

• that there was an actual and imminent unlawful interference with the defendant's person; and,

- that it was necessary to use force or threaten force to prevent or terminate the interference; and,
- when deadly force is used, that it was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself.

Once there is evidence tending to show these matters, the burden of persuasion is on the state to prove that the defendant's conduct did not meet the standard.

The Committee concluded that under the new rule, the effect of "the court shall presume" is to provide the defendant with another way to meet the burden of production on self-defense. If there is evidence of the predicate facts under § 939.48(1m)(ar)1. or 2., the requirement that "the court shall presume" means that no additional evidence is required as to the issue of the defendant's reasonable belief that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself.

Thus, under § 939.48 as amended by 2011 Wisconsin Act 94, there are two ways for a defendant to meet the burden of production on the privilege of self-defense:

- by pointing to some evidence of each part of the definition of self-defense in sub. (1) of § 939.48; or,
- by pointing to some evidence of the predicate facts set forth in sub. (1m)(ar)1. or 2., the provisions created by Act 94.

The determination whether the facts meet the "some evidence" threshold is for the trial court as is the case in other situations involving defenses or mitigating factors.

Wis JI-Criminal 805A, pp. 5-7 (R-Ap. 107-09) (footnotes omitted; bracketed language in original).

Although Chew cites with approval the Committee's discussion of the new statute's "retreat" provision, see Chew's brief at 19, he ignores its discussion of the presumption of reasonableness, see id. at 20-22. Instead, he argues, based on the "plain meaning" of the statute, that the new statute creates a conclusive presumption of reasonableness that the jury must apply. See id. at 21-22. Chew contends that the jury should have been instructed that "if it finds the predicate facts occurred (basic facts) it must presume Mr. Chew reasonably believed force was necessary." Id. at 21. He further argues that "[t]he statute does not provide any way to rebut the presumption once the jury finds the predicate facts." Id.

The State notes that, contrary to Chew's assertion on appeal, see Chew's brief at 22, the jury instruction he requested did not include a conclusive presumption. Rather, after first reciting the traditional elements of self-defense. proposed instruction addressed the determination of whether the defendant's beliefs were reasonable (17:3; A-Ap. 116). Then, after setting forth the generally applicable standard for determining reasonableness – the standard that was given to the jury in this case (55:138-39) – the instruction proposed added the following language:

The defendant is presumed to have acted reasonably in using force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm if Andrew Lee and Andreaius Lucas were in the defendant's dwelling after unlawfully and forcibly entering it, the defendant was present in the dwelling and the defendant knew or reasonably believed

that Andrew Lee and Andreaius Lucas had unlawfully and forcibly entered the building.

(17:3; A-Ap. 116.)

That proposed instruction did not request a presumption. "A conclusive presumption is an irrebuttable direction by the trial court to find the elemental fact once the jury is convinced of the basic facts triggering the presumption." State v. Vick, 104 Wis. 2d 678, 693, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981) (quoting Muller v. State, 94 Wis. 2d 450, 475, 289 N.W.2d 570 (1980)). The instruction that Chew proposed would not have compelled the jury to find that Chew acted reasonably if it found the predicate facts. It would have instructed the jury to presume that he acted reasonably, but would not have prevented the jury from concluding, based on the trial evidence, that the presumption was overcome.

Under the facts of this case, the jury could readily have found that the presumption of reasonableness was overcome. In fact, because the jury was instructed that it was the State's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Chew did not act lawfully in self-defense — an instruction that, as the Jury Instruction Committee recognized, creates a presumption that the State must rebut beyond a reasonable doubt, *see* Wis JI-Criminal 850A, p. 6; R-Ap. 108, the jury *did* find that the presumption had been overcome.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The State acknowledges that the jury was given the standard instruction on retreat, which permitted the jury to consider Chew's opportunity to retreat when determining whether his beliefs were reasonable (55:139). Because the district attorney, in his closing argument, asked the jurors to consider the retreat instruction (55:176-77), the State will not argue that if this court determines that the trial

Chew was charged with reckless endangerment for shooting at two men who had forced their way into the apartment in which he was residing. Chew shot both of the men while they were in the apartment and hitting him. (54:146-47, 170; 55:68-69). He was not charged for those shootings (55:52, 147). Rather, he was charged with reckless endangerment for what happened next (*id.*).

After Chew shot the men, they ran out of the apartment and out of the apartment building (54:147). They were running away from the building, when Chew, who had left the apartment and was standing in or just outside the doorway of the apartment building, fired four more shots (54:147-48, 171-72; 55:93). His shots missed the men, but two bullets struck a neighboring business about 150 feet from the apartment building's doorway and one bullet struck a nearby car (54:241, 247; 55:42-43). Chew testified that he fired those shots because he "didn't know if they were gonna go get another weapon from around the corner or not or if they were going to get more people" (55:70).

Chew's interpretation of the statute would require the jury to find that his belief that the men who had left the building and were running away posed an imminent threat and that shooting

court should have given an instruction based on the new statute that the error was harmless.

<sup>4</sup>Police found four spent casings outside the apartment building, one of which was on the porch and the others near the porch (55:29). Ms. McCranie testified that she saw Chew firing from outside the building (54:139-40). Chew testified that he was standing in the doorway of the apartment building when he fired the shots (55:70, 93-94).

at them was necessary to protect himself was a reasonable belief. That is not a reasonable interpretation of the statute.

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